# CITY OF POTTERVILLE TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

(A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF POTTERVILLE, MICHIGAN)

# **POTTERVILLE, MICHIGAN**

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023



Vredeveld Haefner LLC CPAs and Consultants

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

FINANCIAL SECTION	PAGE
Independent Auditors' Report	1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis	3-5
Basic Financial Statements	
Government-wide Financial Statements Statement of Net Position Statement of Activities	7 9
<b>Fund Financial Statements</b> Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds Reconciliation of Fund Balances on the Balance Sheet for Governmental Funds	10
to the Net Position of Governmental Activities on the Statement of Net Position Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds	11 12
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities Notes to Financial Statements	13 15-20
Required Supplementary Information Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund	21
INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE	
Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with <i>Government Auditing Standards</i>	23-24



# Vredeveld Haefner LLC

CPAs and Consultants 10302 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue Grand Rapids, MI 49534 Fax (616) 828-0307 Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA (616) 446-7474 Peter S. Haefner, CPA (616) 460-9388

## **INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT**

August 14, 2023

Members of the Board City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority Potterville, Michigan

## Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority (TIFA), a Component Unit of the City of Potterville, Michigan, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the TIFA's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities and the major fund of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### **Basis for Opinions**

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. We are required to be independent of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority (TIFA) and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

#### **Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements**

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

## Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

## **Required Supplementary Information**

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated August 14, 2023, on our consideration of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Urodovold Haefner LLC

# MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

## Management's Discussion and Analysis

## About the TIFA

As management of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority (the TIFA), we offer readers of the TIFA's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the TIFA for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the financial statements as a whole, which can be found in this report.

## **Financial Highlights**

- Long-term debt activity consisted of a normal principal payment made of \$50,000 on the tax increment bond.
- Increased TIFA undesignated fund balance (cash) in anticipation of future large scale TIFA Development Project, Lansing Road sidewalk.
- Invested \$100,000 in certified deposit, 6 month 100% FDIC insured account.
- The TIFA continued with the finance director position being performed by the City of Potterville staff utilizing BS&A software.
- Reduced bank service fee(s) and increased account interest earned from bank as a result of switching banking institutions.
- Increased TIFA revenues 4.95%.
- Increased TIFA real property tax revenues by \$9,383 and personal property tax revenues by \$825.

## **Overview of the Financial Statements**

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the TIFA's basic financial statements. The TIFA's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) Government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information intended in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

#### **Government-wide financial statements**

The *Government-wide financial statements* are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the TIFA's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The *statement of net position* presents information on all of the TIFA's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as *net position*. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the TIFA is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the TIFA's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, *regardless of the timing of related cash flows*. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (accrued interest on debt).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the TIFA that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (*governmental activities*) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (*business-type activities*). The TIFA currently has no business-type activities.

#### Fund financial statements

A *fund* is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The TIFA, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The TIFA only utilizes a governmental fund.

#### Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on *near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources*, as well as on *balances of spendable resources* available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the TIFA's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for *governmental funds* with similar information presented for *governmental activities in* the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the TIFA's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances, provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between *governmental funds* and *governmental activities*.

The TIFA maintains one individual governmental fund. Information is presented separately in the governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund which is considered a major fund.

The TIFA adopted an annual appropriations budget for its general fund as required by state law. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided as required supplementary information for the general fund to demonstrate legal compliance.

#### Notes to the financial statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

#### Other information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain *supplementary information.* This includes this discussion and analysis as well as a budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget.

#### **Government-wide Financial Analysis**

The following table presents condensed information about the TIFA's financial position for the past two fiscal years. Net position decreased \$47,495 during the year primarily as a result of contributing capital assets to the City of Potterville. Total net position includes the investment in capital assets. Capital assets represent the capital assets held by the TIFA, net of related accumulated depreciation.

	<u>2023</u>	<u>2022</u>
Current and other assets	\$161,213	\$ 64,221
Capital assets	502,083	710,947
Total assets	663,296	775,168
Current and other liabilities	54,096	68,473
Long-term liabilities	305,000	355,000
Total liabilities	359,096	423,473
Net position		
Net investment in capital assets	147,083	305,947
Restricted	-	-
Unrestricted	157,117	45,748
Total net position	\$304,200	\$351,695

#### **Income and Expenses**

The TIFA decreased its financial position during the year ended June 30, 2023 primarily due to the Lansing Road sidewalk improvement capital asset being transferred to the City during the year. A summary of revenues and expenses for the past two (2) fiscal years is presented below.

	<u>2023</u>	<u>2022</u>
General revenues		
Property taxes	\$195,359	\$185,151
Other general revenues	148	1,132
Total revenues	195,507	186,283
Expenses		
Community and Economic Development	226,095	61,321
Interest on long-term debt	16,907	18,933
- / 1		00 0 <b>5</b> (
Total expenses	243,002	80,254
Change in net position	(47,495)	106,029
Net position, beginning of year	351,695	245,666
Net position, end of year	\$304,200	\$351,695

## **General Fund Budgetary Highlights**

The revenues and expenditures were consistent with the budget as amended. The appropriation for capital activity was decreased during the year.

#### **Capital Asset and Long-Term Debt Activities**

Capital asset deletions included the transfer of a sidewalk project to the City while depreciation was \$42,133 during the year. Long-term debt activity consisted of a normal principal payment made of \$50,000 on the tax increment bonds. Additional information on capital assets and long-term debt can be found in notes 3 and 4, respectively.

#### **Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget**

The 2024 budget was adopted with an increase of 1.8% in revenues from 2023 actual. 2024 budgeted expenditures include \$8,000 Capital Outlay and \$1,900 in new district improvements. TIFA undesignated fund balance is strategically planned to increase and be held over until the 2024 budget cycle in order to 100% fund the large scale Lansing Road Sidewalk development project, with no additional long-term debt activity or interest payments.

#### Contacting the TIFA Management

This management discussion and analysis provides an overview of the current and prospective financial condition of the TIFA's operations and financial position. If there are questions concerning this report or if additional information is desired, please contact to the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority Director at (517) 645-7641.

(This page left intentionally blank)

**BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** 

## STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

## JUNE 30, 2023

	Primary Government Governmental <u>Activities</u>	
Assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 161,213	
Capital assets		
Depreciable capital assets, net	502,083	
Total assets	663,296	
Liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	4,096	
Due within one year	50,000	
Noncurrent liabilities		
Due in more than one year	305,000	
Total liabilities	359,096	
Net Position		
Net investment in capital assets	147,083	
Unrestricted	157,117	
Total net position	\$ 304,200	

(This page left intentionally blank)

## STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

				Program Revenues						
			Ohanna	_	Operati	-	Capita		Nat	( <b>F</b> )
Functions/Programs	E	<u>kpenses</u>	Charge for Servio		Grants <u>Contribut</u>		Grants a <u>Contributi</u>			(Expense) Revenue
Primary government		<u></u>			<u></u>		<u></u>	<u> </u>	-	
Governmental activities										
Community	\$	226,095	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(226,095)
Interest on long-term debt		16,907		-		-		-		(16,907)
Total primary government	\$	243,002	\$	-	\$		\$	-		(243,002)
General revenues										
Property taxes										195,359
Interest earnings										148
Total general revenues										195,507
Change in net position										(47,495)
Net position, beginning of year										351,695
Net position, end of year									\$	304,200

## GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

# JUNE 30, 2023

	General	
Assets Cash and cash equivalents	<u>\$ 161,213</u>	-
Total assets	\$ 161,213	-
Liabilities and fund balance Liabilities Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	<u>\$</u>	<u>.</u>
Total liabilities		
Fund balances Unassigned	161,213	-
Total fund balances	161,213	-
Total liabilities and fund balance	<u>\$ 161,213</u>	•

## RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCE ON THE BALANCE SHEET FOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ON THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

# JUNE 30, 2023

Fund balances - total governmental funds	\$	161,213
Amounts reported for <i>governmental activities</i> in the statement of net position are different because		
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.		
Add - capital assets (net)		502,083
Certain liabilities, such as bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.		
Deduct - bonds payable Deduct - accrued interest on bonds payable		(355,000) (4,096)
Net position of governmental activities	<u>\$</u>	304,200

## GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

	<u>c</u>	General
Revenues Taxes Interest	\$	195,359 148
Total revenues		195,507
Expenditures Current Community & Economic Development		17,231
Debt service Principal Interest		50,000 17,432
Total expenditures		84,663
Net changes in fund balances		110,844
Fund balances, beginning of year		50,369
Fund balances, end of year	\$	161,213

## RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds	\$ 110,844
Amounts reported for <i>governmental activities</i> in the statement of activities are different because	
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets are allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.	
Deduct - depreciation expense Deduct - net book value of asset transferred to the City	(42,133) (166,731)
Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds in the period issued, but issuing bonds increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.	
Add - payment of bond principal	50,000
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the funds.	
Add - decrease in accrued interest	 525
Change in net position of governmental activities	\$ (47,495)

(This page left intentionally blank)

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

#### 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Potterville established the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority (the TIFA) on July 11, 1984, as authorized pursuant to P.A. 450 of 1980, as amended. The TIFA was established for the purpose of promoting growth and development and for other purposes as set forth in P.A. 450 of 1980, as amended.

The financial statements of the TIFA have been prepared in conformity with the U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the government's accounting principles are described below.

## **Reporting Entity**

The TIFA is a component unit of the City of Potterville (the City). The financial statements of the TIFA present only the funds and account groups of the TIFA and are not intended to present fairly the financial position and results of the operations of the City in conformity with GAAP.

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements of the reporting entity include those of the TIFA. There are no component units to be included. The criteria for including a component unit include significant operational or financial relationships with the TIFA.

#### Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. *Governmental activities,* which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues are reported in total. The TIFA has no business-type or fiduciary activities.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset by program revenues. *Direct expenses* are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. *Program revenues* include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as *general revenues*.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds. Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

#### Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the *economic resources measurement focus* and the *accrual basis of accounting*. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the *current financial resources* measurement focus and the *modified accrual basis* of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period except grant revenues which are recognized when grant requirements are met, and interest revenue which is recorded when earned. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. Property taxes, state revenue, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the TIFA.

All individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The TIFA reports the following major governmental funds

The *General Fund* is the general operating fund of the TIFA. It is used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

#### Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Comparisons to budget are presented for the General Fund. The TIFA is required to follow these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

- 1. Prior to June 1, the TIFA Director submits to the TIFA Board a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1.
- 2. A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
- 3. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.
- 4. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for the general funds.
- 5. The budget for the general fund is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
- 6. Adoption and amendments of all budgets used by the TIFA are governed by Michigan Law. The appropriations ordinances are based on the projected expenditures budget of the various activities of the TIFA. Any amendment to the original budget must meet the requirements of Michigan Law. The TIFA budget was amended during the year. Any revisions that alter the expenditures at the activity level within the general fund must be approved by the TIFA Board.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

#### Deposits and Investments

State statutes authorize the TIFA to invest in:

- a. Bond, securities, other obligations and repurchase agreements of the United States, or an agency or instrumentality of the United States.
- b. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts or depository receipts of a qualified financial institution.
- c. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the two highest classifications established by not less than two standard rating services and that matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.
- d. Bankers acceptances of United States banks.
- e. Obligations of the State of Michigan and its political subdivisions that, at the time of purchase are rated as investment grade by at least one standard rating service.
- f. Mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 with the TIFA to purchase only investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by a public corporation.
- g. External investment pools as authorized by Public Act 20 as amended.

The TIFA's investment policy is more restrictive than state requirements and allows for investment in only those investment vehicles identified in items a. and b. above.

#### **Capital Assets**

Capital assets, which include buildings, land improvements, and equipment, are reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements.

Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than \$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are valued at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated historical cost where no historical records exist. Donated capital assets are valued at acquisition value (the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential in an orderly market transaction) on the date received.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as applicable.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Depreciation on capital assets (including infrastructure), is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

••

	Years
Buildings	20-50
Land improvements	20-50
Equipment	3-10

## Property Taxes

The TIFA is supported by taxes captured within the TIFA's district. Property tax assessments are determined as of each December 31. Taxes are levied on July 1 of the following year. TIFA property taxes are recognized in levied year as revenue in accordance with the guidelines of the State of Michigan.

## Net Position and Fund Balance Reporting

Governmental funds report fund balance in the following five categories:

- 1. Non-spendable the related asset's form does not allow expenditure of the balance. The assets are either (a) not in a spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Nonspendable fund balance would be equal to inventory, prepaid items, non-current financial assets, and the nonspendable portion of endowments.
- 2. Restricted the related assets can only be spent for the specific purposes stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or as identified in enabling legislation.
- 3. Committed the related assets can only be spent for a specific purpose identified by formal resolution of the governing board.
- 4. Assigned the related assets can only be spent for a specific purpose identified by management as authorized by the governing board.
- 5. Unassigned is the residual classification and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications.

Fund Balance can only be committed by formal resolution of the TIFA Board.

Restricted net position represents those portions of fund equity not appropriable for expenditure or legally segregated for a specific future use.

#### Net Position and Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net position/fund balance and unrestricted – net position/fund balance, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the government's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resource as they are needed. Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

## Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements the long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the governmental activities statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures/expense regardless of fund or activity.

#### Risk Management

The TIFA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the TIFA carried commercial insurance to cover risks of losses. The TIFA has had no settled claims resulting from these risks that exceeded their commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

## 2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The balance of cash and cash equivalents on the financial statements is \$161,213.

This balance is in a financial institution located in Michigan. State policy limits the Treasurer's investing options to financial institutions located in Michigan. All accounts are in the name of the TIFA and a specific fund or common account. They are recorded in TIFA records at fair value.

#### Deposit risk

*Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits.* Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the TIFA's deposits may not be returned. As of year-end, none of the TIFA's bank balance of \$161,363 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was either insured or collateralized.

## NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

## 3. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year was as follows:

	Balance June 30, <u>2022</u>	Additions	<u>Deletions</u>	Balance June 30, <u>2023</u>
Governmental activities				
Capital assets, not being depreciated				
Construction in progress	\$166,731	\$-	\$166,731	\$-
Total capital assets, not being depreciated	166,731	-	166,731	-
Capital assets, being depreciated				
Building and improvements	842,657	-	-	842,657
Equipment	30,148	-	-	30,148
Total capital assets, being depreciated	872,805	-	-	872,805
Less accumulated depreciation for				
Building and improvements	298,441	42,133	-	340,574
Equipment	30,148	-	-	30,148
Total accumulated depreciation	328,589	42,133	-	370,722
Total capital assets, being depreciated	544,216	(42,133)	-	502,083
Governmental activities capital assets, net	\$710,947	\$(42,133)	\$166,731	\$502,083

## 4. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of the debt transactions of the TIFA for the year ended June 30, 2023.

	Balance July 1, <u>2022</u>	Additions	Deletions	Balance June 30, <u>2023</u>	Due Within One <u>Year</u>
Governmental Activities					
Private Placement					
2014 General Obligation Limited Tax Bonds,					
requiring annual principal payments from					
\$35,000 to 70,000 plus interest from 1.85 to					
4.8% through 2028.	\$405,000	\$-	\$50,000	\$355,000	\$50,000

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Year Ended	Governmental Activities					
June 30	Principal	Interest				
2024	\$ 50,000	\$15,282				
2025	55,000	12,945				
2026	55,000	10,457				
2027	60,000	7,811				
2028	65,000	4,888				
2029	70,000	1,680				
Total	\$355,000	\$53,063				

# **REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION**

## GENERAL FUND SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE BUDGET AND ACTUAL

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

	Budget Amounts Original Final			_ Actual <u>Amount</u>		Variance Positive <u>(Negative)</u>		
Revenues								
Taxes	\$	190,000	\$	195,359	\$	195,359	\$	-
Interest		90		90		148		58
Total revenues		190,090		195,449		195,507		58
Expenditures Current								
Community & Economic Development Debt service		147,797		29,470		17,231		12,239
Princpal		50,000		50,000		50,000		-
Interest		17,432		17,432		17,432		
Total expenditures		215,229		96,902		84,663		12,239
Net changes in fund balance		(25,139)		98,547		110,844		12,297
Fund balance, beginning of year		50,369		50,369		50,369		
Fund balance, end of year	\$	25,230	\$	148,916	\$	161,213	\$	12,297

(This page left intentionally blank)

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE



# Vredeveld Haefner LLC

CPAs and Consultants 10302 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue Grand Rapids, MI 49534 Fax (616) 828-0307 Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA (616) 446-7474 Peter S. Haefner, CPA (616) 460-9388

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

August 14, 2023

Members of the Board City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority Potterville, Michigan

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund, of the City of Potterville Tax Increment Finance Authority (TIFA), a Component Unit of the City of Potterville, Michigan, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Potterville TIFA's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated August 14, 2023.

## **Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City of Potterville TIFA's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Potterville TIFA's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Potterville TIFA's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

## **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Potterville TIFA's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

## Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Uredeveld Haefner LLC